047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK 1997)
CLERK

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 75,609 (TFB No. 89-10,514(12C))

SID J. WHITE

1891 S MAL

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

v.

JOHN H. MYERS,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

BONNIE L. MAHON Assistant Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite C-49
Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 875-9821
Attorney No. 376183

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT		
ARGUMENT		
ISSUE:	WHETHER AN ATTORNEY SHOULD BE SUSPENDED FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW FOR COMMITTING A FRAUD ON THE COURT, NOTWITHSTANDING NUMEROUS MITIGATING FACTORS FOUND BY THE REFEREE	
CONCLUSION		
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE		

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES	PAGES	
The Florida Bar v. Agar, 394 So.2d. 405 (Fla.1981)	14	
The Florida Bar v. Hoffer, 383 So.2d 639 (Fla.1980)	16	
The Florida Bar v. Kickliter, 559 So.2d 1123 (Fla.1990)	11, 12, 14	
The Florida Bar v. Roman, 526 So.2d 60 (Fla.1988)	10	
Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions	18, 19	

SYMBOLS AND REFERENCES

In this Brief, the appellant, The Florida Bar, will be referred to as "The Florida Bar" or "The Bar". The appellee, John H. Myers, will be referred to as "Respondent". "TR" will denote the transcript of the Final Hearing before the Referee. "R" will refer to the record in this cause. "RR" will refer to the Report of Referee.

STATEMENTS OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

In July, 1987, the Respondent was retained by Rolf Coldeway to prepare a Petition For Dissolution of Marriage; a Property Settlement Agreement; and an Answer, Waiver of Notice of Final Hearing, and a Consent to Enter a Final Judgment. When the Respondent was retained, Rolf and Sue Ellen Coldeway contemplating the reconciliation of their marriage. L.15-25, p.37, L.1-13). Prior to reconciling the marriage, Mr. and Mrs. Coldeway executed the Property Settlement Agreement and Mrs. Coldeway executed the Answer, Waiver of Notice of Final Hearing and Consent to Enter a Final Judgment, which was prepared by the Respondent. Mr. Coldeway intended to use the executed documents in the event that the reconciliation of the marriage (TR, p.25, L.7-9; C, R, Complaint paragraph 2). Property Settlement Agreement executed by Mrs. Coldeway on July 17, 1987, provided that the parties would have shared parental responsibility for their minor child, with the primary physical residence of the minor being with Mr. Coldeway. (R, Complaint, paragraph 4; R, Respondent's Exhibit 2).

Subsequent to July, 1987, Mr. and Mrs. Coldeway reconciled their marriage and lived together as husband and wife until approximately June, 1988. (R, Complaint, paragraph 5; TR, p.28, L.24-25, p.29, L.1-2). When the parties separated in June, 1988, Mrs. Coldeway retained Floyd E. Ferguson to represent her in a dissolution of marriage action. Mrs. Coldeway advised Mr. Ferguson of the fact that her husband was represented by the

With this information, Mr. Ferguson called the Respondent. Respondent's law office and advised the Respondent of the fact that he was representing Mrs. Coldeway in a dissolution of marriage action against Mr. Coldeway. (RR, p.2, paragraph 4). During the aforementioned conversation, Mr. Ferguson and the Respondent discussed amicably settling the Coldeway divorce action, which resulted in Mr. Ferguson preparing a Property Settlement and Separation Agreement on behalf of Mrs. Coldeway. (R, Bar Exhibit 2; TR, p.40, L.19-25, p.41, L.1-3). The Property Settlement Agreement prepared by Mr. Ferguson provided that Mrs. Coldeway would have the primary custody of the parties' minor child, with each party retaining full and equal parental rights and responsibilities. (R, Bar Exhibit 1). The Respondent did not advise Mr. Ferguson of the documents that Mrs. Coldeway executed in July, 1987. (TR, p.56, L.12-22).

1988, Mr. Ferguson mailed the Property July 28, Settlement and Separation Agreement which he prepared to the Respondent for execution by Mr. Coldeway. (RR, p.2, paragraph letter, which 5). Mr. Ferguson's cover accompanied the Settlement Agreement advised the Respondent that after Coldeway executed the Agreement and the same was returned to him, that he would then forward to Respondent a proposed Final Service of an Acknowledgement of Judgment and Appearance for Mr. Coldeway's signature. The cover letter also advised the Respondent that, although he personally attends all of his client's Final Hearings, he would appear for the

Coldeway's Final Hearing with or without Respondent. (R, Bar Exhibit 2). The Respondent received the proposed Property Settlement and Separation Agreement prepared by Mr. Ferguson and discussed the same, by phone, with his client. Mr. Coldeway advised the Respondent that he would not execute such an agreement. (TR,p.32, L.13-20, p.33, L.1-5). The Respondent did not advise Mr. Ferguson of his client's refusal to execute Mrs. Coldeway's proposed Property Settlement and Separation Agreement. (TR, p.59, L.2-25, p.60, L. 1-19).

On or about September 25, 1988, Mrs. Coldeway and the parties' minor child moved from Florida to Ohio. Mrs. Coldeway did not notify Mr. Coldeway of her whereabouts, however, she did advise her attorney of the same. (R, Complaint, paragraph 13; TR, p.63, L.19-25, p.64, L.1-17). When Mrs. Coldeway refused to advise Mr. Coldeway of her whereabouts, Mr. Coldeway instructed the Respondent to file the Petition for Dissolution of Marriage and the Property Settlement Agreement which the Respondent had prepared and had executed by Mr. and Mrs. Coldeway in July, 1987. The Respondent followed his client's instructions and thereafter proceeded with the Coldeway dissolution of marriage action as an uncontested matter. The Respondent intentionally failed to give Mr. Ferguson notice of the filing of the Petition For Dissolution of Marriage and Property Settlement Agreement of July, 1987. Respondent proceeded with the Coldeway Divorce Action on an ex-parte basis because he did not consider Mr. Ferguson to be Mrs. Coldeway's attorney subsequent to September, 1988 due to

Mrs. Coldeway's departure from the State of Florida and due to her refusal to notify Mr. Coldeway of her whereabouts. (TR,p.41, L.15-25, p.42,L.1-7). The Respondent never sought to contact Mr. Ferguson to determine whether or not he knew of Mrs. Coldeway's whereabouts and whether or not Mr. Ferguson intended to continue to represent Mrs. Coldeway in the Coldeway's divorce action. (TR,p.63,L.16-25, p.65,L.1-6,p.68,L.1-6).

On or about November 10, 1988, an uncontested Final Hearing was held in the Coldeway Dissolution of Marriage Action. Respondent intentionally failed to give Mr. Ferguson notice of the Final Hearing. (RR, p.4, paragraph 8). During the uncontested Final Hearing, the Respondent submitted to the Court the Answer, Waiver of Notice of Final Hearing, and Consent to Enter a Final Judgment executed by Mrs. Coldeway on July 17, 1987. (RR, p.4, paragraph 8). The Respondent consciously failed to inform the Court of the fact that Mrs. Coldeway was represented by counsel. (TR, p.45,L.17-24). At the conclusion of the Final Hearing, a Final Judgment was entered awarding Mr. Coldeway the primary custody of the parties' minor child. (RR, p.4, paragraph 9). Shortly after the Final Hearing, Mr. Coldeway discovered his former wife's whereabouts, went to Ohio, obtained custody of the couple's minor child, and returned to Florida. (TR,p.70,L.25, p.71,L.1-3). As a result thereof, Mrs. Coldeway retained another attorney in an effort to have the Final Judgement of Dissolution of Marriage set aside. The Final Judgement of Dissolution of Marriage in the Coldeway case was set aside, and custody of the minor child was awarded to Mrs. Coldeway. (RR,p.4,paragraph 9).

During the period of time involved in the Coldeway case, the Respondent was experiencing emotional problems associated with his former wife's absconding with his six (6) year old son and refusing to divulge to the Respondent the location of their son for over two (2) years. The Respondent was required to attend numerous hearings in an effort to locate and to obtain the custody of his own minor child. (TR,p.42,L.13-25; RR,p.5, paragraph 10).

The Florida Bar filed a Complaint against the Respondent charging him with violating the following Rules of Discipline: Rule 4-3.3(d) (a lawyer shall inform the tribunal of all material facts known, whether or not the facts are adverse); Rule 4-3.4(a) (a lawyer shall not unlawfully obstruct another parties' access to evidence); Rule 4-8.4(a) (a lawyer shall not violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct); Rule 4-8.4(c) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation); and shall not engage in conduct that 4-8.4(d)(a lawyer prejudicial to the administration of justice). (R, Complaint, paragraph 26).

On August 17, 1990, a Final Hearing in this cause was held before the Honorable Robert T. Schaefer, Referee. At the commencement of the Final Hearing, the Respondent's counsel advised the Referee that his client was admitting all of the factual allegations of the Bar's Complaint. (TR,p.3,L.8-9).

Thereafter, the Referee heard the testimony of several Judges, lawyers and individuals in regard to the Respondent's character and reputation. In addition, the Referee heard arguments of counsel in regard to the Rules of Discipline violated by the Respondent and the appropriate discipline for the Respondent's misconduct.

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of violating the Rules alleged by The Florida Bar to have been violated by the Respondent, with the exception of Rule 4-3.4(a) which was struck by counsel for The Florida Bar during the Final Hearing. (RR,p.5). The Referee recommended that the Respondent receive a public reprimand and probation for two (2) years, with a condition of probation being that the Respondent continue with his participation in the Florida Lawyer's Assistance Inc. program and that he make quarterly reports of said participation to The Florida. (RR,p.5-6).

The Florida Bar's Board of Governor reviewed the Report of Referee and voted to seek a six (6) month suspension as an appropriate discipline in this case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent committed a fraud on the Court by intentionally withholding material information from the Court. Further, the Respondent engaged in an unauthorized ex-parte communication with a Judge with the intent to affect the outcome of the Coldeway dissolution of marriage action.

The Referee's recommendation of a public reprimand and probation is not a sufficient disciplinary sanction for such unethical misconduct, notwithstanding the mitigating factors considered by the Referee in reaching said recommendation.

Recent case law and The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provide that disbarment and/or a lengthy suspension is the appropriate discipline for Respondent's misconduct. However, the substantial mitigating factors present in this case justify reducing the appropriate discipline to a six (6) month suspension. The mitigating factors do not justify the imposition of a public reprimand and probation rather than a suspension from the practice of law.

Therefore, the Florida Bar respectfully requests this Court disapprove the Referee's recommendation of a public reprimand and probation and order the Respondent suspended from the practice of law for six (6) months.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER ATTORNEY SHOULD ISSUE: AN OF SUSPENDED FROM THE PRACTICE LAW FOR COMMITTING А FRAUD ON THE COURT, NOTWITHSTANDING NUMEROUS MITIGATING FACTORS FOUND BY THE REFEREE.

The Respondent presented his client's case to the Court as an uncontested dissolution of marriage action knowing that the same was contested due to his client's rejection of the wife's proposed settlement agreement (TR,p.45,L.10-11, p.41,L.4-10) and knowing that the opposing party was represented by counsel and entitled to notice of the filing of the divorce action and of the final hearing held in the case. (TR,p.41,L.15-25,p.42,L..1-12). The Respondent's conduct constitutes a fraud on the Court, in that he intentionally withheld material information from the In addition, the Respondent engaged in an unauthorized ex-parte communication with a Judge with the intent to affect the outcome of the Coldeway case. (TR,p.45,L.17-24). Further, the Respondent's conduct prejudiced his client and deprived the opposing party of her right to litigate the issue regarding custody of the parties' minor child. The Respondent's misconduct warrants a six (6) month suspension from the practice of law regardless of the mitigating factors found by the Referee.

The Referee in the instant case recommended that the Respondent be disciplined by a public reprimand and probation. The Referee made said recommendation after taking into account several factors which he considered to be in mitigation of

- Respondent's misconduct. (RR, p.5,6). The mitigating factors considered by the Referee in this case are as follows:
 - 1. The Respondent's personal or emotional problems associated with the fact that the Respondent's former wife had absconded with the Respondent's six (6) year old son and had refused to divulge to the Respondent the location of his son for over two (2) years. During the period of time involved in the Coldeway case, the Respondent was required to attend numerous hearings in an effort to locate his child and obtain custody (RR, p. 4, 5, and 6);
 - 2. The Respondent did not have a prior disciplinary record (RR, p. 6);
 - 3. The absence of a selfish motive (RR, p. 6);
 - 4. The Respondent's full and free disclosure to the disciplinary board and his cooperative attitude toward the disciplinary proceedings (RR, p. 7);
 - 5. The Respondent's good character and reputation (RR, p. 7);
 - 6. The Respondent's interim rehabilitation (RR, p.7); and
 - 7. The Respondent's remorse (RR, p. 7).

The Bar submits that the mitigating factors considered by the Referee are not sufficient to justify disciplining the Respondent with a public reprimand and probation. The Respondent's fraud on the Court is similar to that in other cases where attorneys have been disbarred or suspended from the practice of law.

In The Florida Bar v. Roman, 526 So.2d 60 (Fla.1988), Roman committed a fraud on the probate court to effectuate a theft. Roman filed false pleadings with the court which contained the forged signature of a fictitious beneficiary. Roman furthered the fraud by deceiving the court into believing that the estate assets were distributed to the fictitious beneficiary when in fact he had converted them to his own use. This Court disbarred Mr. Roman from the practice of law, notwithstanding numerous mitigating factors, to-wit: absence of a prior disciplinary history; personal and emotional instability caused by marital problems and pressures from work; he was receiving psychiatric care at the time of the misconduct; he was taking prescribed medication for depression at the time of the misconduct; remorse; restitution; cooperative attitude toward the Bar proceedings; and he was criminally sanctioned. Id at p. 3.

Unquestionably, Roman's misconduct is more egregious than the Respondent's misconduct, in that Roman not only committed a fraud on the Court but, in addition, he misappropriated client funds. However, in Roman, this Court stated that either offense was sufficiently grave to justify disbarment. Id at p. 4. The Bar is not seeking disbarment or a lengthy suspension in this case, due to the Referee's finding that the Respondent's misconduct was influenced by his own predicament in locating his

minor child over a period of two (2) years. (RR, p. 4, 5). However, this finding by the Referee does not justify reducing the appropriate discipline in this case from disbarment to a public reprimand.

The Respondent knowingly and intentionally committed a fraud on the Court and deprived Mrs. Coldeway of an opportunity to litigate the validity of the July, 1987 Settlement Agreement and to litigate her right to the primary custody of the parties' minor child, so that he could expeditiously obtain a Final Judgment awarding custody of the minor child to Mr. Coldeway. (TR,p.40,L.4-18). The Respondent's own endeavors to locate his six (6) year old son made him conscious of the fact that organizations designed to assist parents in locating children that had been abducted by a parent or grandparent would not assist Mr. Coldeway in locating his child, unless Mr. Coldeway had an Order or Final Judgment awarding him custody. (RR,p.4,5). The Respondent's knowing and intentional misconduct warrants a six (6) month suspension from the practice of law in light of the mitigating factors found by the Referee.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Kickliter</u> 559 So.2d 1123 (Fla. 1990), Mr. Kickliter was retained to prepare a will for a client. The client died before signing the will prepared by Mr. Kickliter; thus, Mr. Kickliter forged the client's name on the will and he, thereafter, submitted the will to the Probate Court. Mr. Kickliter committed a fraud on the Court solely to effectuate his client's wishes under the will. The Referee found substantial

mitigation which included absence of a dishonest or selfish motive; a cooperative attitude; good character and reputation; remorse; and the imposition of criminal penalties. Based on the aforementioned mitigating factors, the Referee recommended a two (2) year suspension. On review, this Court found that, regardless of the mitigating factors, disbarment was appropriate for Mr. Kickliter's misconduct.

As in Kickliter, the Respondent committed a fraud on the Court to effectuate his client's desire to obtain an expeditious Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage awarding him custody of The Bar concedes that Kickliter's the parties' minor child. misconduct was more serious than that of the Respondent, since fraud constituted a crime, whereas Kickliter's Mr. Respondent's fraud did not. However, the Respondent's misconduct is egregious enough to warrant a six (6) month suspension rather than a public reprimand and probation. The Respondent testified that he believed the documents he filed with the Court were valid even though the Coldeways reconciled their marriage after executing the documents. (TR,p.46,L.9-15, p.47,L.14-23). The Bar contends that the Respondent knew that the documents he filed with the Court were invalid in light of his intentional failure to notify Mr. Ferguson of the existence of said documents (TR,p.56,L.12-22); his intentional failure to notify Mr. Ferguson of the filing of the same with the Court (TR,p.41,L.15-25, p.42,L.1-4); his intentional failure to notify Mr. Ferguson of the Final Hearing in the case; and his intentional failure to

- advise the Court of all the relevant facts. (TR,p.45,L.17-25, p.46,L.1-6). The Bar's position is supported by Respondent's answers to the following questions propounded by Bar Counsel during the Final Hearing in this cause:
 - Q. You testified that you thought that the Property Settlement Agreement of 1987 was a valid agreement at the time you submitted it to the Court in 1988, correct?
 - A. Yes.
 - Q. If you thought it was a valid agreement and it would be upheld in a court of law, why didn't you notify Mr. Ferguson of what you were going to do?
 - A. Why didn't I?
 - Q. Yes.
 - A. I'm not sure.
 - Q. Is it because you really didn't believe it was valid?
 - A. I felt the agreement was valid.
 - Q. Well, once again, if you felt it was valid, why didn't you give them an opportunity to come in and protest it?
 - A. Because the wife had left the state and refused to divulge her location or the child's location, I felt that Mr. Ferguson was no longer her attorney.
 - Q. What would make you think that Mr. Ferguson was no longer her attorney?
 - A. Her action.
 - Q. Is it your opinion that anytime a client leaves the state, that they're no longer represented by counsel in the state that they left?
 - A. That's not my opinion, no.
 - Q. Then explain to me why you felt that her leaving the state would not make Mr. Ferguson her attorney anymore.
 - A. Because my client came to me and indicated to me that she advised him on the telephone that he would never see his daughter again and my client was in a panic about that and wanted to see his daughter. I, at the same, was going through a similar situation with my son and his mother. She wouldn't divulge her location or my son's location to me. The emotional strain or trauma that I was experiencing over my own personal situation affected my judgment,

clouded my judgment, and I made a bad judgment by not notifying Mr. Ferguson.

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