73

Case No:

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID . WHITE

JAN 38 1991

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By Deputy Clerk

75,609

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

JOHN H. MYERS,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

SCOTT K. TOZIAN, ESQUIRE SMITH AND TOZIAN, P.A. 109 North Brush Street Suite 150 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 273-0063 Fla. Bar No: 253510

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Respondent's conduct in this cause does not rise to the level requiring a six month suspension from the practice of law.

The Referee below had the opportunity to hear and evaluate the witnesses called on behalf of Respondent. More importantly, the Referee could, and did, assess and consider Respondent's testimony and character and the circumstances surrounding his bad judgment.

The cases cited by The Florida Bar in support of its position involve conduct far more egregious, (some criminal conduct) and therefore, are far more compelling of stricter discipline.

Consideration of the appropriate case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions along with Respondent's background, character, and the attendant mitigating circumstances require the imposition of a public reprimand and a two year probationary period as recommended by the Referee.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE: WHETHER THE REFEREE WAS CORRECT IN RECOMMENDING A PUBLIC REPRIMAND AND TWO YEARS PROBATION, BASED UPON THE FACTS BELOW AND THE OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE OF MITIGATION.

The Referee below recommended a public reprimand and two years probation as the sanction for Respondent's conduct in this cause. The Petitioner argues a six month suspension is the appropriate discipline. [Pet. Brief at 8].

In support of its position, Petitioner cites four earlier decisions of this court. First, Petitioner relies on The

Florida Bar v. Roman, 526 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 1988). In an estate matter wherein the decedent had no will, nor any heirs, the accused attorney created a phony heir and forged a signature on an affidavit submitted to the court in order to obtain the estate assets for his own benefit. The accused was also charged with grand theft and sentenced to nine months specified residency in the county jail followed by five years probation.

However, Petitioner concedes that the facts in Roman are more egregious and that the mitigation here is particularly compelling in that Respondent experienced a situation involving his ex-wife and child which was nearly identical to his client's dilemma. Petitioner admits that neither disbarment, nor a lengthy suspension are appropriate here due to these two distinctions. [Pet. Brief at 10, 11].

However, Petitioner feels that a six month suspension is appropriate since Respondent "committed a fraud on the Court and deprived Mrs. Coldeway of an opportunity to litigate the validity of the property settlement agreement and to litigate her right to the primary custody of the parties' minor child". [Pet. Brief at 11].

Respondent submits that Petitioner's comparison of Respondent's conduct as fraud similar to Roman's is transparent. While Roman filed a bogus, forged document, Respondent filed a pleading which was what Respondent represented it to be; a sworn property settlement agreement executed by Mrs. Coldeway.

Moreover, Petitioner's characterization of Mrs. Coldeway as a victim is comparably thin. If Mrs. Coldeway wanted the opportunity to litigate the validity of the earlier property settlement agreement and the issue of custody, it is odd that she would flee the state and call her husband from an undisclosed location and gloat that he would never see his daughter again. Such conduct is inconsistent with that of a person who desires an impartial decision, and who is the victim rather than the perpetrator.

Petitioner next relies on <u>The Florida Bar vs. Kickliter</u>,
559 So.2d 1123 (Fla. 1980). In <u>Kickliter</u>, the disbarred
attorney was criminally charged with three felonies for forging
a client's signature to a will and presenting that will to a

probate court as genuine. Moreover, Kickliter forced two employees of his office to become accomplices to his crimes by having them witness the fraudulent will. Again, as Respondent filed a document that was genuine, not fraudulent, no valid comparison between Respondent's conduct and Kickliter's conduct can be drawn.

Yet, the Petitioner insists that a six month suspension is appropriate. In support, Petitioner points out that Respondent testified that he believed the documents filed with the court were valid even though the Coldeways reconciled their marriage after the documents were executed. [Pet. Brief at 12]. Petitioner suggests Respondent is being untruthful in this regard. Petitioner avers that Respondent knew the documents were invalid, despite the corroborating testimony of Mr. Coldeway and the clear meaning of the property settlement agreement itself. Examination of this critical testimony and the settlement agreement illustrates the fallacy of Petitioner's contention.

Mr. Coldeway testified that he sought Respondent's assistance with the property settlement agreement during a period in his marriage when he and his wife were contemplating reconciliation. It was clearly anticipated by the parties and Respondent that Mrs. Coldeway was going to come back to the marital home. [R. 20, 21]. In fact, because Mrs. Coldeway had run off with "various different men" in the past, Mr. Coldeway

would not agree to reconcile unless he could be sure of providing a stable household in the event of a subsequent separation. [R. 20].

Respondent also testified that the parties were contemplating reconciliation at the time the agreement was requested and drafted. He further testified that he attempted to draft the agreement so that the expected reconciliation would not render it void. [R. 47]. In further, uncontroverted support of Mr. Coldeway's and Respondent's testimony is the settlement agreement itself. The property settlement agreement reads, in pertinent part;

- 9... "Primary physical residence of the child shall be with the Husband subject to liberal and extensive visitation with the wife, not being less than the contact and visitation guidelines.
- The Husband shall not receive child support so long as the parties are residing together. Should the parties separate physically and live apart, the Wife agrees to pay the Husband child support in the amount of \$25.00 per week. [Resp. Ex. 1, page 4]. (emphasis added).

Mr. Coldeway's and Respondent's testimony, as well as the unambiguous language of the property settlement agreement, confirm that it was the understanding and intention of all parties concerned that reconciliation was anticipated, but would not alter the agreement.

Furthermore, Petitioner's contention that Respondent knew the agreement was invalid when presented to the court is not only without evidentiary support, but, most respectfully,

illogical. If Respondent knew the property settlement agreement was rendered invalid by the reconciliation, then it necessarily follows that he knew it was invalid when he drafted it, since the agreement contemplated the very act which Petitioner claims invalidated it. However, there is no suggestion, even by Petitioner, nor any evidence indicating that Respondent knew the property settlement agreement was invalid at the time it was drafted.

Finally, although the final judgment obtained with the property settlement agreement was overturned upon appeal, such an after the fact finding does not show Respondent had knowledge of the invalidity of the agreement at any earlier time.

Accordingly, Petitioner's insistence that a six month suspension is justified due to his submission of a pleading known to be invalid is without even a scintilla of evidentiary support.

The Petitioner also relies on <u>The Florida Bar v. Agar</u>, 394 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1981). Again, contrary to the instant case, the offending attorney was charged with a felony for perpetrating a fraud on the court by counseling a witness to give false sworn testimony. Agar pled nolo contendre to a lesser included offense and was disbarred by this court for "deliberate, knowing elicitation or concealment of false testimony." Id. at 406.

Nevertheless, the Petitioner draws some unidentified parallel between the cases and continues to demand a six month suspension citing prejudice to Respondent's client and the continued portrayal of Mrs. Coldeway as a victim. However, the record below confirms that both positions are unsupported.

First, the prejudice perceived by Petitioner is that Mr. Coldeway was ordered to pay half of his wife's attorney's fees incurred in having the Final Judgment overturned. [Pet. Brief at 15]. However, it is clear that no prejudice to Mr. Coldeway resulted from this payment, as Respondent waived all post-judgment fees to his client. [R. 28, 74]. The estimated post-judgment fees that were waived were in range of \$1,500.00 to \$1,800.00. [R. 49], while Mr. Coldeway paid approximately \$850.00 towards his wife's attorney's fees. [R. 27].

Moreover, while Petitioner protests the payment on behalf of Mr. Coldeway, it is clear he does not share Petitioner's feelings. When questioned about his feelings towards Respondent, Mr. Coldeway provided the following insight.

- Q. The times that you've used Mr. Myers as a lawyer, have you been satisfied with his services?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Has he always been honest with you, as far as you know?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. Has he been fair with you in terms of his billing practices and whatnot?

- A. From what I understand about legal fees, he's more than fair.
- Q. If you had another legal problem, would you go to Mr. Myers?
- A. Definitely.
- Q. Why did you come here today?
- A. Because John needed me and he's done me good and it's time I do the same for him. [R. 28].

The preceding colloquy bespeaks a man not prejudiced by his attorney, but one who feels gratitude and respect towards him.

Yet again, Petitioner laments Mrs. Coldeway's predicament claiming Respondent deprived her the opportunity to contest the property settlement agreement and to litigate the issue of custody. Moreover, Petitioner claims Respondent caused Mrs. Coldeway to be deprived of her child for the period of time taken to have the Final Judgment set aside and the custody issue resolved. [Pet. Brief at 15]. Petitioner's contention is indeed curious, based upon the record below.

Mrs. Coldeway's surreptitious flight from the state, concealment of the minor child and stated intention of depriving Mr. Coldeway of ever seeing his daughter again, do not square with a person interested in contesting the validity of the agreement and litigating the issue of custody. [R. 24]. Moreover, the deprivation of her child during the post-judgment proceedings was no different than the deprivation

of Mr. Coldeway when Mrs. Coldeway made her unilateral decision on custody and visitation by sneaking out-of-state with the parties' daughter.

Therefore, while Respondent has admitted wrongdoing in this cause and accepts that sanctions must follow, Petitioner's request for enhanced penalties due to Mrs. Coldeway's inconvenience is unpersuasive based upon the evidence.

Lastly, Petitioner relies on The Florida Bar v. Hoffer, 383 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1980). Hoffer was suspended for two years for misconduct involving a three count disciplinary complaint. Hoffer's violations included altering a release after it was executed by a client and lack of diligence in filing a complaint against the wrong party. In the third count, the following facts were shown. Hoffer represented a party named Lantzy in a foreclosure action against J.B. White and Government National Mortgage Association (hereinafter GNMA). On June 1, 1976, Colonial Mortgage Service Company of California (hereinafter CMSC), filed a Motion to Intervene because the mortgage being foreclosed upon had been assigned to CMSC from GNMA. Upon receipt of the Motion to Intervene, Hoffer contacted counsel for CMSC and agreed to continue a scheduled final hearing until after the Motion to Intervene was Thereafter, Hoffer apparently rescheduled the final hearing and obtained a final judgment without notifying counsel for CMSC. Moreover, when the Motion to Intervene was heard,

Hoffer attempted to thwart the motion by arguing CMSC was precluded from asserting its interest by reason of the final judgment. Based upon findings of guilt as to all three counts, this court suspended Hoffer for two years.

Obviously, in <u>Hoffer</u> the suspended attorney engaged in two separate instances involving allegations of fraud i.e., altering the signed release, and scheduling the hearing without notice after promising to postpone the matter until opposing counsel could have his motion heard. Moreover, the Referee and this court found Hoffer's testimony at the disciplinary hearing to be unworthy of belief.

Conversely, Respondent here did not present a forged or altered document. Admittedly, Respondent failed to notice opposing counsel of the filing of the documents and failed to advise the court of other facts concerning an absolutely genuine document. Respondent, despite Petitioner's statements to the contrary, did advise opposing counsel of Mr. Coldeway's rejection of the proposed property settlement agreement. [R. 56]. Moreover, Petitioner's conclusory statement that Respondent intentionally failed to advise Mr. Ferguson of the earlier executed agreement is wholly without record support. Only the Respondent testified about conversations between he and Mr. Ferguson and he could not recall if the earlier agreement had been discussed. [R. 56]. Respondent's unrefuted

testimony certainly does not support Petitioner's contention that Respondent intentionally failed to advise Mr. Ferguson of the agreement.

Finally, Petitioner attempts to draw some parallel between Hoffer's conduct in opposing the motion to intervene with the Final Judgment obtained without notice, to Respondent's attempts to have the property settlement agreement upheld when Mrs. Coldeway hired new counsel to attack the final judgment. Yet, Petitioner continues to fail to recognize that the property settlement agreement was absolutely authentic and that the agreement was originally drawn in contemplation of the reconciliation.

Petitioner also cites the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions (hereinafter The Standards), in support of its recommendation. Petitioner, in arguing for a suspension, cites Section 6.1 of The Standards which deals with the making of false statements, or submission of false documents, and withholding of information. However, the Respondent's conduct does not involve false statements or false documents.

Petitioner also cites Section 6.3 of The Standards which deals with a lawyer who makes "an unauthorized ex-parte communication with a judge or juror with the intent to affect the outcome of the proceeding. However, this Section has no applicability to the instant cause.

Section 6.3 of The Standards applies to corresponding Rule 4-3.5 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Rule 4-3.5, entitled "Impartiality and Decorum of the Tribinal", reads in pertinent part:

- (b) In an adversary proceeding a lawyer shall not communicate or cause another to communicate as to the merits of the cause with a judge or an official before whom the proceeding is pending . . .
 - (d) A lawyer shall not:
- (2) During the trial of a case with which he or she is connected communicate or cause another to communicate with any member of the jury.

Clearly, Respondent did not violate Rule 4-3.5, but instead failed to notice opposing counsel of the filing of documents and failed to advise the court of certain pertinent facts in contravention of Rule 4-3.3(d). Accordingly, Section 6.3 of The Standards simply does not apply.

Inexplicably, Petitioner does not mention Section 5.13 of The Standards which reads "Public Reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in any other conduct that involves dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation and that adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice law." (emphasis added). Respondent urges that based upon the facts and the rules violated, particularly Rule 4-8.4(c), (Conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation)

Section 5.13 is clearly more applicable than the Section 6.1 or Section 6.3.

Additionally, past decisions of this court and other courts within Florida suggest that the Referee's recommendation of a public reprimand is appropriate. In Hays v. Johnson, 15 FLW D1130 (5th D.C.A.) May 4, 1990, Attorney James Shook filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus seeking the release of a child to the custody of its mother. Attorney Shook's petition omitted several material facts. Specifically, Shook failed to reveal the mother had consented in writing to the appointment of the custodian, with discretion to place the child as he saw fit until further order of the court. Additionally, Shook failed to disclose that the temporary custody order was entered due to the petitioner's incarceration for contempt of court for violating the child's father's visitation rights and for refusing to reveal the child's whereabouts, among other things. As a result, the court issued a rule to show cause why sanctions should not be imposed against Shook. In responding to the show cause order, Shook attempted to reargue the merits of the petition, rather than explaining the material omissions in the pleading.

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